Church Foundations in Iowa
Cornelia Mallett Barnhart

The Keokuk Lantern Club

FREDERIC C. SMITH

comment by the Editor RUTH A. GALLAHER

UNDER THE ACT OF AUGUST 24 1912

THE PURPOSE OF THIS MAGAZINE

The Palimpsest, issued monthly by the State Historical Society of Iowa, is devoted to the dissemination of Iowa History. Supplementing the other publications of this Society, it aims to present the materials of Iowa History in a form that is attractive and a style that is popular in the best sense—to the end that the story of our Commonwealth may be more widely read and cherished.

BENJ. F. SHAMBAUGH

THE MEANING OF PALIMPSEST

In early times a palimpsest was a parchment or other material from which one or more writings had been erased to give room for later records. But the erasures were not always complete; and so it became the fascinating task of scholars not only to translate the later records but also to reconstruct the original writings by deciphering the dim fragments of letters partly erased and partly covered by subsequent texts.

The history of Iowa may be likened to a palimpsest which holds the records of successive generations. To decipher these records of the past, reconstruct them, and tell the stories which they contain is the task of those who write history.

Price — 10 cents per copy: \$1 per year: free to Members Address — The State Historical Society, Iowa City, Iowa

THE PALIMPSEST

EDITED BY RUTH A. GALLAHER

VOL. XXVII ISSUED IN APRIL 1946 No.4

900

Church Foundations in Iowa

Religion held an important place in the thinking and activities of many of Iowa's early settlers. Soon after the Black Hawk Purchase was opened to white settlement, the Roman Catholics and several Protestant denominations were represented in the Iowa area. These pioneers held religious meetings in schoolhouses, warehouses, taverns, log cabins, or groves; itinerant preachers and priests traveled westward to minister to Indians and to white men on the frontier. By 1846, the year in which Iowa acquired statehood, these religious groups were building churches and schools, establishing religious organizations, and considering problems presented by the society of that day.

From the days of Father Jacques Marquette's visit to the Iowa country in 1673, the Roman Catholics had an interest in this area. Catholic explorers, traders, and missionaries were in Iowa previous to 1833 when the Black Hawk Purchase was unofficially opened to settlers, and some of

the earliest settlers of Iowa — Julien Dubuque and Louis Honoré Tesson — were French Catholics. On October 6, 1832, Father Charles Van Quickenborne first conferred the sacrament of baptism on Iowa soil.

In 1834 the Rev. Charles Francis Fitzmaurice came to Dubuque as that city's first priest, but he died of cholera shortly after his arrival. His worthy successor was Rev. Samuel Charles Mazzuchelli, under whose leadership a stone church, the second church building in Iowa, was begun in 1835, dedicated to St. Raphael, the Archangel. Four years later, in April, 1839, Mathias Loras came to Dubuque as the first bishop of the Roman Catholic church in Iowa.

Bishop Loras was untiring in his efforts to bring Christianity to settlers on the frontier, and under his guidance the Catholic Church gained a firm foothold in Iowa. By 1846 a number of churches had been built and Catholic schools had been opened in several towns. At Council Bluffs, on the westernmost border of the Iowa country, we find Father Christian Hoecken visiting an Indian mission in 1846 and baptizing thirty-eight infants and a dying squaw. This Potawatomie mission had been opened by Father Pierre Jean De Smet in 1838.

In the summer of 1834 a group of Methodists

at Dubuque erected the first house of worship in Iowa, a small log church, 20 by 26 feet in size, costing \$255. From that year the Methodist Episcopal Church developed steadily in Iowa until by 1846 it had become one of the strongest church bodies in the State. Methodist circuit riders were ever active in carrying Christian teachings to the frontier and in establishing new churches. Thirtyone preachers attended the first Iowa Annual Conference meeting when that group was organized at Iowa City on August 14, 1844. Bishop Thomas A. Morris, first bishop of the Methodist Episcopal Church in Iowa, presided and opened the conference by reading the fifth chapter of First Peter: "The elders which are among you I exhort, who am also an elder". At the third session of the Iowa Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church, held at Bloomington (Muscatine), September 2-7, 1846, a total of 7,812 church members in the four Iowa districts was reported.

The Methodist Protestant Church, a group which had broken away from the Methodist Episcopal Church in 1830 because of dissatisfaction with the episcopal form of church government, was also active in Iowa in 1846. This group laid the cornerstone for the first church in Iowa City on May 12, 1841, and organized the first session of the Iowa Conference of the Methodist Protes-

tant Church in the fall of 1846. The *Iowa* Standard for October 7th printed the following announcement:

"The first session of the Iowa Annual Conference of the Methodist Protestant Church will be held in Iowa City, State of Iowa, commencing on the second Tuesday 13th of October next 1846, session to commence at 10 o'clock in the forenoon. Opening address by some Minister in attendance, perhaps by the Rev. W. H. Collins, at 11 o'clock of the same day, at the State House."

The first sermon delivered in Iowa is said to have been preached at Dubuque on August 11, 1833, by a Presbyterian minister from Galena, Illinois. This was Rev. Aratus Kent, who was serving as a missionary for the American Home Missionary Society supported jointly by the Presbyterian and Congregational churches. He preached in an unfurnished log cabin with a box for a pulpit and a number of rough boards for pews.

A group of soldiers and officers of the U. S. Army, government employees, and a few Indians were members of the first Presbyterian church (Cumberland branch) in Iowa. This church was organized at Ion in what is now Allamakee County in 1834, but it disappeared following the removal of the Indians. A second Cumberland

Presbyterian church was founded on Sugar Creek in Des Moines County in 1836, and an Old School church, probably the most famous of early Presbyterian churches, was opened at West Point in Lee County in 1837. The first Iowa Presbytery (Old School) was formed at Bloomington, on November 6, 1840, with delegates from nine churches in attendance. The New School Presbyterians organized their first Presbytery at Yellow Spring (now Kossuth, Des Moines County) on April 12, 1842.

Like the Methodists and Presbyterians, the Baptists organized their first Iowa church in 1834, twelve years before Iowa became a State. On October 20th of that year eleven people assembled in the cabin of Noble Hously in Lee County to hear Elder John Logan preach. Thus originated the Danville Baptist Church. The first Iowa Baptist Convention was held at Iowa City on June 3 and 4, 1842, with eight ministers and seventeen layment attending. By 1845 the Baptist membership in Iowa was 523.

On June 3, 1846, when there were Baptist churches at Davenport, Dubuque, Keosauqua, Bloomington, Iowa City, Washington, Bonaparte, Mt. Pleasant, Agency City, Fairfield, and several smaller towns, the *Iowa Capital Reporter* announced the annual Baptist convention to be held

at Iowa City "to commence with the annual Sermon on Friday next (the 5th inst.) at half past 10 o'clock A. M. — Exercises will continue three days."

An interesting sidelight on this convention is given by C. R. Aurner who says thirty or more of the convention delegates were quartered in the house of the Iowa City pastor. Cots were obtained from the American Hotel for the women, while the men used buffalo robes and blankets and slept on the floor. All who could not find room there had to take to the barn. It was said that over three hundred meals were provided at that house during the convention. Indeed, such a gathering must have made an impression on the capital city, for a good Methodist sister, quite awe-struck, was reported to have exclaimed, "I did not know there were so many Baptists in the world."

Although they were later in arriving than some other religious groups, the Congregationalists became another influential sect in early Iowa. A group of New Englanders established the Congregational Church at Denmark in 1836, and two years later Rev. Asa Turner came from Illinois to be the pastor of this flock. A convention held at Denmark in November, 1840, marked the beginning of a Congregational Association in Iowa. In 1843 the famous Iowa Band, eleven young Con-

gregational and Presbyterian ministers from Andover Theological Seminary, arrived in Iowa and began to exert their influence on religion and education in the Territory. By 1846 the Congregationalists had twenty-three ordained ministers and thirty-two churches in Iowa. There were Congregational church buildings at Denmark, Fairfield, Cascade, Bloomington, Dubuque, and Burlington.

The first services of the Protestant Episcopal Church in Iowa were held in 1836 when occasional ministrations were conducted at Dubuque by the Rev. Richard F. Cadle. A year later the Rt. Rev. Dr. Philander Chase, Bishop of Illinois, officiated at Episcopal services in the hotel at Rockingham in Scott County with thirty or forty people in attendance. On February 2, 1840, an Episcopal Church was organized at Burlington with Rev. John Batchelder as its rector.

In 1841 the domestic committee of the board of missions of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States appointed the Rev. Zachariah Goldsmith as missionary to Davenport, and on the 14th of October the same year Trinity Church was organized at that place. The first Episcopal church building in Iowa was erected at Bloomington in 1841, but the members shared their chapel with the Presbyterians, and the second floor of the building was used by the Masons.

Thirteen Disciples of Christ organized the Lost Creek Church of Christ in Lee County on "the first Lord's day" in July, 1836. Their first services were held in the double log cabin of Isaac Briggs, a dwelling which had been remodeled to answer the purposes of a church. This house of worship was used by the Disciples until 1849. Another early Disciples of Christ congregation was organized on Long Creek in Louisa County in 1836 or 1837. This later became the Columbus City Christian Church.

The first society of the Christian Church at Fort Madison was organized in 1838, and at Davenport in 1839. On March 25, 1846, the Disciples founded a church at Oskaloosa with a charter which read: "We the undersigned do hereby agree to worship together as a Church of Christ, to take the Bible as the only rule of faith and practice and to be called Christians after the name of Christ our Lord."

The Quakers, too, settled in Iowa soon after the Indians disappeared from the Black Hawk Purchase. In the fall of 1835 Isaac Pidgeon with his family came to locate a claim on Little Cedar Creek in Henry County. About a year later Aaron Street, another Friend, arrived in Iowa and the two men conceived the idea of founding a Quaker community. They called their settlement

Salem. The first regular business meeting of the Society of Friends west of the Mississippi was conducted at Salem, on October 8, 1838. By 1846 several other Quaker settlements had been made in Iowa, including Cedar Creek, Pleasant Prairie or Pleasant Plain, New Garden, Richland, East Grove, Chestnut Hill, and Spring Creek.

Amish settlers were in Lee and Johnson counties by 1846. It is probable that Christian Raber of the Lee County settlement was the first Amish preacher in Iowa, and the Lee County church may have been organized under him in 1845. Some believe that the first Amish church did not originate until 1846 under the guidance of Elder Joseph Goldsmith.

Other religious groups in early Iowa included the United Brethren in Christ, the Universalists, and the German Evangelicals. Rev. Christian Troup of the United Brethren Church came to Iowa as a missionary in 1836 and settled upon what is now a part of the site of Mount Vernon. He and Rev. John Burns, a local preacher, seem to have been the pioneers for the United Brethren in Iowa. The first society was organized at the home of "Father" Edington, probably somewhere in Henry County, in October, 1841. The first annual conference of the United Brethren in Iowa convened at Columbus City in Louisa County, on

May 19, 1844, with Bishop Henry Kumler, Jr.,

presiding.

One hundred years ago Iowa newspapers advertised the 1846 annual convention of Universalists to be held at Iowa City in September. The first Universalist society had been organized at Iowa City on November 6, 1841. During that same year the First German Evangelical Church of Burlington was organized in an upper room.

The Mormons, too, were in Iowa a century ago. In February, 1846, a large number of the Latter Day Saints crossed the Mississippi River from Illinois and began to make their way across Iowa. They had been driven from Nauvoo, Illinois, and now, led by Brigham Young, they began their westward migration that was to carry them across the plains to their new home in Utah.

The preachers and priests of these early Iowa churches were men of physical daring and deep religious conviction. Frequently they were itinerants, traveling great distances to hold meetings at widely divergent places, meeting every obstacle of nature — drenching rain, swollen rivers, bitter cold, and oppressive heat. Their work often separated them from their families, and their pay was small, largely in "produce and promises". But still they carried on.

Rev. Launcelot Graham Bell, an early Presby-

terian preacher, received only \$100 from his congregations from 1836 to 1842. He exemplified the generous spirit typical of these early preachers when he said: "The settlers generally were poor, struggling for homes; . . . the times were disastrous, and their perplexities great. In such a region and under such circumstances the ministry of the word must be gratuitous or not at all." In 1846 Rev. Asa Turner at Denmark had a salary of \$300, and was obliged to borrow money to support his family.

Activities of these early churches were varied. During warm weather the camp meeting was an occasion for spiritual refreshment and social activity. The following notice of a Methodist camp meeting appeared in the *Iowa Capital Reporter* for June 3, 1846:

"The Camp Meeting for Washington Circuit will commence on Thursday the 17th of June, at Mr. Cooper's Grove, about three fourths of a mile from the bridge across English river, on the military road leading from Iowa City to Mt. Pleasant — distant from Iowa City, 14 miles.

"Ministerial brethren and friends are invited to attend."

Camp meetings had become popular in the late 1700's and early 1800's, and had almost passed their peak of popularity by the time Iowa became

a State. Held out-of-doors, they often continued for several days or a week. According to one account, the camp site was usually "chosen near a swift running creek, and in a grove of heavy timber. A huge tent was raised. . . . In the front of the tent a large platform was built for the preachers. There were usually three or four of them. The congregation was seated on improvised benches, planks placed across strings of logs. Through the center an aisle led to the speakers' table and the converts' bench." The preachers at these meetings were sincere men, more noted for their powerful lungs and emotions than for polished oratory and logic. Their voices led out in the hymn singing as well as in their sermons and prayers.

Families came from miles around to attend these meetings, bringing supplies of food and cooking utensils. Concessionaires sometimes dispensed lemonade, gingerbread, dried herring, raisins, candy, or watermelons. Apparently this warevending was occasionally carried so far as to become obnoxious, for a resolution adopted by the Methodist Iowa Conference session in 1845 began, "Whereas, we are greatly annoyed at our camp-meetings by the sale of cake, beer and other articles".

Sunday schools were sponsored by the early

churches. The first Sunday school in Iowa was organized in March, 1834, at Dubuque by Mrs. Susan A. Dean, a Methodist. It was supported by other Protestant denominations, however. William R. Ross started a similar Sabbath school at Burlington in the summer of 1834 with a library brought from Cincinnati which cost \$12.50. Five years later, Methodists, Presbyterians, Baptists, and Congregationalists united in their support of the first Sunday school in Bloomington. A report of a Methodist Iowa Conference committee in 1846 said, "we view the Sabbath school cause as a most powerful and efficient auxiliary" and "we deeply regret our past remissness in this most important work". During the conference year of 1845-46 there were 83 Methodist Sabbath schools in Iowa, with 640 officers and teachers and 3,301 scholars.

The Bible and hymn books were the principal texts in these pioneer Sunday schools, and pupils memorized long passages from the Scriptures as a part of their religious training.

Pioneers of 1846 were persevering and enthusiastic in their support of church building projects. During that year improvements were being made on the outer structure of the First Methodist Episcopal Church of Burlington, later known as "Old Zion", at a cost of \$1,200. In the same year the

Friends at Salem, having outgrown their original hewed-log meeting house, subscribed \$1,149 toward the construction of a new building. The Congregationalists were dedicating new churches at Dubuque, Denmark, and Burlington at costs of \$3,000, \$4,000, and \$6,000 respectively.

In addition to erecting churches, these people founded schools. A number of church groups had established educational institutions — academies, colleges, and seminaries — even before Iowa became a State.

Bishop Mathias Loras of Dubuque reporting on the condition of his diocese in 1849 said:

"We have established a house for Sisters of Charity who bring up 24 young people of rich families, and keep a day school in Dubuque for 60

children and a few orphans . . .

"We are preparing for the erection of a petit seminary, and which for a time will serve as a grand seminary, and which will be devoted to the education of young natives for the sanctuary. Already a few of them have begun their ecclestiastical studies." He described two Catholic schools which were in session in Dubuque in 1846. One of these was the Sisters of Charity Female Academy and day school started in 1843, the other was St. Raphael's Seminary which Bishop Loras had opened at his own residence in 1839.

Ground was broken for St. Anthony's Church and School in Davenport in 1838 and the building was dedicated in 1839. Father J. A. M. Pelamourgues conducted classes in this parochial school beginning in 1839. The next year a parochial school was opened at Fort Madison. The first Catholic school in Johnson County was St. Mary's of the Visitation which opened in the basement of the Iowa City church in 1846 with Miss Norma O'Connor and Father Anthony Godfert serving as teachers.

The Presbyterians were sponsoring two schools in Iowa before 1846 — a seminary or academy at West Point, established in 1838, and an academy at Yellow Spring which was started in 1844. The West Point Seminary did not, however, begin class work until 1842 when Rev. John M. Fulton, a Presbyterian minister, became principal. Five years later it became the Des Moines Valley College. In the winter of 1844, a charter was obtained from the Territorial legislature incorporating Jefferson Academy, a Presbyterian-sponsored school, which was located near what is now the town of Mediapolis. Its first principal was Rev. Bennett Roberts, who was assisted in his work by his daughter, Louise.

The Mount Pleasant Collegiate Institute, which later became Iowa Wesleyan College, was incor-

porated in 1844. This early college and Iowa City College, located at the capital, were under the patronage and support of the Methodist Episcopal Church in 1846. Snethen Seminary, opened at Iowa City in 1844 under the patronage of the Methodist Protestant Church, was also in session in 1846.

Denmark Academy began its first session in September, 1845, to instruct the "youth of both sexes in science and literature". Rev. Albert A. Sturges acted as principal and professor. Iowa College, another Congregational school, which later became Grinnell College, had its beginnings in Davenport in 1846 with the Iowa Band sponsoring its founding.

The Baptists also felt the need of organizing a church school. At the State convention in 1844 establishment of an institution of learning was advocated. At an 1846 meeting the educational committee reported that, "we deem it highly important to enter into immediate arrangements for establishing said literary institution, and that we present the various proposals received to the Convention in committee of the whole, to discuss and decide upon the respective claims." After much discussion it was voted upon and passed by a majority of three to locate a school at Agency City. The vote was later reconsidered, however.

In 1846, as in 1946, churches were faced with social problems. The temperance movement had begun in Iowa some years before 1846 and temperance societies had been organized as early as 1838. Bishop Loras of the Catholic Church was a zealous temperance advocate when he entered his Iowa see, and he was joined in his views by Father Joseph Cretin. These "active prohibitionists" worked together in organizing Catholic Total-Abstinence Societies in Iowa.

Protestants were holding temperance meetings in 1846, for a notice in the Bloomington Herald, May 15, 1846, read: "Mr. M. R. Gushee will deliver a Temperance Lecture, THIS EVENING, at the Methodist Church at early candle lighting. The public are respectfully solicited to attend." At the General Congregational Association meeting at Dubuque the 4th, 5th, and 6th of June, 1846, the following resolution regarding the use of liquor was adopted:

"That in our opinion, the use of, or the traffic in intoxicating liquors as a beverage, is inconsistent in our community, at the present day, with credible Christian character."

The slavery question was another problem facing 1846 churches. The Quakers were actively meeting the problem by participating in the Underground Railroad which had many stations in

Quaker settlements throughout Iowa. At almost every Congregational Association meeting from that organization's beginning in 1840 until the outbreak of the Civil War, strong declarations denouncing the "curse" of slavery were heard. In 1846 the Association resolved "That we regard the system of slavery, as it exists in the United States, as a sin against God, a curse to the master, and a grievous sin to the slave", and that "fellowship with slaveholding churches and professors, voluntarily continuing to be such after suitable admonition, is inconsistent with a faithful reproof of, and non-fellowship with, the unfruitful works of darkness." The Methodist Episcopal Church separated into a northern and a southern branch in 1844 over the same question. Few churches of the Methodist Episcopal Church South were organized in Iowa. The Iowa Conference of 1846 adopted resolutions favoring the colonization of Negroes.

In 1846 the United States was at war with Mexico and Christian churches were preaching and praying for peace. In June the Davenport Gazette announced: "The Presbyterian General Assembly have recommended the first Sabbath in July to be observed as a day of humiliation and prayer on account of war, and ministers are requested on that day to preach in behalf of peace."

One hundred years ago church members were considering the problem of Christian use of leisure time. The Methodist Iowa Conference meeting at Bloomington (Muscatine) in 1846, adopted a resolution concerning recreational amusements: "That in the opinion of this Conference it is altogether improper for the members of our church to attend circuses, shows, plays, and all such places, and that we will set ourselves against it and deal with them as for other immoralities." The question of membership in secret societies was also debated in some church meetings.

It is evident that the church, the home, and the school worked together in shaping the lives of the people in 1846. As Iowans look back one hundred years they must be grateful to those pioneers for laying a sound foundation for later church development in the State.

CORNELIA MALLETT BARNHART

The Keokuk Lantern Club

Monday evening, October 19, 1908, was a typical early fall night, and the people of Keokuk were enjoying their leisure hours at home or at their accustomed tasks, when, at 8:10 o'clock the autumn stillness was broken by the noise of a terrific explosion. On its heels those homes which were lighted by electricity were suddenly plunged into darkness, commercial power stuttered and stopped, and the street lights went out as if some giant had suddenly cupped them in his hand. It was evident that the explosion had something to do with the Keokuk Electric Light and Power Plant, located beside the old Des Moines Rapids Canal at the foot of North Twelfth Street. News of the disaster spread rapidly and "sent chills through the veins of many of Keokuk's people who rushed quickly to the scene".

A giant fly wheel attached to one of the generators in the electric plant had exploded, killing one man who was attempting to reach the master switch to control the racing monster of steel and iron. Another employee escaped injury miraculously. A serio-comic note was injected into the news story by the reporter who wrote that a family

of four living in a house four hundred feet from the plant narrowly escaped annihilation when a five hundred pound piece of the fly wheel crashed through the roof "rudely interrupting them while undressing for bed." Describing the accident in its edition the following day, the Gate City said it was "a terrific accident unparalleled in the City of Keokuk".

Power lines throughout the city were completely knocked out, halting street car and interurban traffic, and "many homes were forced to bring oil lamps and other lights into use", the reporter related. The explosion of the fly wheel carried out a wall of the plant and caused damage to the electrical equipment there of over seven thousand dollars. A. D. Ayres in a statement to the newspapers warned that there would be no restoration of arc street lights for some time, but that power for private companies would be restored as soon as possible. This lack of street lights, plus a clever bit of newspaper work on the part of two members of the Gate City's staff, brought the announcement in big headlines:

"LANTERN CLUB IS ORGANIZED.

[&]quot;Everybody Join.

[&]quot;It costs nothing.

[&]quot;You don't have to register.

[&]quot;Don't let your light shine under a bushel".

These were the eye-catching sentences of the news story that had a prominent place in the issue of the Gate City three days after the accident. The article went on to say, "The Keokuk Lantern Club is hereby organized and new members solicited. There is no initiation fee and no dues". Under the heading, "by-laws", the public was informed that "the Keokuk Lantern Club shall exist from this day until the electric street lights are in commission" and the object of the club was described as "the enlightenment of mankind at night, on the streets of Keokuk."

Would-be members of the club were admonished to take the following pledge:

"I hereby promise on my honor as a citizen of Keokuk to hang out a lighted lantern in front of my residence each night (except when the moon is shining) and keep the lantern lighted and hung out until at least midnight from now until the street lights are in commission".

Several classes of membership were offered. The "people with incandescent lights on the porch" who would turn these on at night were to be known as "honorary members". Those who lived on the corner of a street and would hang out lanterns were to be known as "star members" while those who lived in the middle of the block were designated as "active members". A member-

ship ticket was printed in a "box" accompanying the article. It read as follows:

"This is to certify that.....is a member of the Keokuk Lantern Club, having signed the pledge and agreed to stand by it.

Jack O. Lantern, President Oil Kann, Secretary."

In a subsequent article a "strange co-incidence" was noted. On October 21, 1858, the files of the Gate City disclosed that the streets of Keokuk were in darkness, the gas supply being shut off for an hour. The failure of these gas lights lasted for a week, it reported, because "the retorts had been taken out of the plant". This darkening of the streets "every fifty years" led to a fanciful prophesy of "dark streets fifty years hence in October of 1958."

Doings of the Lantern Club continued to make interesting reading for many nights subsequent to the printing of the first article, and names of the citizens who were joining the club by hanging out lighted lanterns were printed each night. "Charter members made a good showing last night", said the Gate City of October 23, 1908. The writer added: "one would be surprised at the great quantity of light that an ordinary oil lantern hung in the street can make." Charter members of the club cited in the article were L. A. Hamill, 704

Franklin Street; J. T. Hubinger, 822 Blondeau Street; I. S. Ackley, 1007 Blondeau Street; Dr. A. B. Hughes and Dr. Charles A. Jenkins on the south side of town; and The Keokuk Truth, 917 High Street. The appointment of a "light inspector" was said to be imminent.

This inspector's first report appeared in the Gate City of October 24th. "The Lantern Club is doing fine. Between Ninth and Tenth on High a member has a lantern hanging from a bracket attached to a shade tree". This inspector also reported that "Mayor [W. E.] Strimback has joined and is lighting up the upper end of the Third Ward", also "that Ex-Marshal Charles Henneman has a lantern that is helping illuminate one of the south side streets". It was announced that the charter would be kept open for signatures one more day. In the issue appearing on the final day for signatures of charter members, October 26th, it was stated that "The Lantern Club is booming, five hundred names by tonight." D. L. Hughes, manager of the Keokuk Opera House, drew praise for having "turned on a dozen lights at the Opera House."

Startling news appeared in the issue of the paper on Monday, October 27th. "What do you think of this?", the startled reader was asked, "The Board of Directors has expelled one member

for conduct unbecoming a gentleman. He kept his lantern burning for four nights, but put it out last night because a neighbor refused to light a lantern." Naturally there was much speculation as to the identity of the expelled member. As if to offset this scandal in the club three honorary members who switched on incandescent lights were listed as "S. F. Baker & Co., John Leisy and the Scott Manufacturing Company".

Taking a dig at the rival newspaper, the Constitution Democrat, the Lantern Club historian remarked the following night, a "hearty vote of thanks" is extended the Constitution Democrat for "its assistance". This bit of sarcasm was levelled at the following tardy notice from the pen of its rival—"it is suggested that if citizens would display lanterns at their homes during the period of deprivation of arc street lighting at night it would prove much of a convenience to everybody".

This hanging of lanterns became so widespread throughout the city that the optimistic representatives of the Lantern Club reported that several streets were as "light as day". The Club also warned that lantern thieves were busy and suggested that home owners mark their lanterns by scratching their initials and street number on the metal base of the beacons. "The Board of Direc-

tors" rose to the emergency and offered a reward of \$100 for the capture of thieves caught stealing lanterns.

Formation of "Branch No. 1 at Montrose Iowa", Keokuk's neighbor up the river, was also announced with appropriate fanfare.

An up-to-the-minute history of the club appeared in the Gate City of October 31st, when practically a full page story captioned "The Famous Keokuk Lantern Club" appeared, headed by the boast that "never, no never, has there been such a popular organization as the Keokuk Lantern Club, organized but a few days ago and in which membership numbers five hundred". This lusty infant was announced as having 17 members on Friday, 44 on Saturday, 150 on Monday, 236 on Tuesday, 321 on Wednesday, 345 on Thursday, 350 on Friday, "and tonight five hundred". It was in this page spread that the paternity of the club was divulged.

"At first", it was stated, "its efforts were taken as a joke, but as the really beneficial help the club became is seen, smiles died down and everybody joined hands".

It was really no surprise to those who had been reading the articles to learn that "the truth is, there are no officers. The work has been carried on by two members of the Gate City force". Any one familiar with his style of writing had long since made up his mind that the guiding genius of the hoax was Edward F. Carter, then city editor of the Gate City. Mr. Carter readily admitted that the club was his idea, and its development was proof of his versatility in the line of humorous writing.

Despite the glimpse backstage, the fun was carried further the next week by a call for the election of officers of the Lantern Club. It was also stated that since the "moon is on the job now, it will soon be so strong lanterns will not be necessary". However, the club was advised that on the waning of this moon it should again be ready to function. Promise of the restoration of street lights with the installation of new machinery for the light plant started journalistic speculation shortly as to when the club would disband.

Publication of the election results in the club appeared to rival in interest the closing days of the presidential campaign of 1908. For president of the club the vote was declared a tie between "Judge Bell", Rice H. Bell, judge of the Superior Court, and L. A. Hamill. Other successful officers were Edward F. Carter, for vice president; Harry Brunat, secretary; and Claude Townsend, treasurer. Walter Garrison was winner of the post of light inspector. A. B. Hughes was chosen attor-

ney and B. C. Cook became auditor. Club members were advised at this time to "clean up their lanterns" and meet next week to set a new date for displaying them.

Fame of the club spread outside of Keokuk, when Walter C. Kiedaisch, a former Keokukian, and an artist for the Erie, Pennsylvania, Times, drew and published a cartoon about the club. This appeared in the issue of the Gate City of November 13th, along with the announcement that "lanterns are again on duty". Two weeks later, however, the electric company announced restoration of arc street light service about December 12th. This led the club's historian to suggest that the club should disband. Early in December it was proposed to have a banquet and committees were named for the event, which was to have been held in a large hall decorated with lanterns. Tickets of admission were to be twenty-five cents. The banquet, however, was never held. Indeed Mr. Carter reports that the members of the Lantern Club never had a meeting for any purpose.

A resolution asking the city fathers to appropriate \$500 "to the club for its excellent public work" drew a chuckle from readers — even from the city fathers themselves. On December 12th it was announced that street car service would be resumed in Keokuk together with arc street lighting on December 16th.

The obituary of the club appeared in the issue of the Gate City for December 18th, with the statement, "The Keokuk Lantern Club is no more". An official resolution of demise stating that "the Keokuk Lantern Club is officially disbanded, dissolved, broke, busted and wiped off the map" ended its activities. Still in a humorous vein the author of the article declared that the resolution was "held up for thirty minutes while the arc lights were watched to see if they would perform without a flicker". This they did and the resolution was spread on the minutes of the club.

What started as a bit of journalistic horse play was carried out as a community enterprise and proved to be of no small benefit to the citizens of Keokuk in keeping their streets at least partly lighted in the emergency and helping to keep down such petty crimes as amateur hold-ups and purse snatching which might easily have flourished in darkened streets.

FREDERIC C. SMITH

Comment by the Editor

NOTES ON AN OLD GEOGRAPHY

In the year 1846 Jesse Olney published the fifty-second edition of his text book on geography. The title page informed the reader that it was A Practical System of Modern Geography; or a View of the Present State of the World. Simplified and adapted to the Capacity of Youth. This small volume was "illustrated by a new and enlarged atlas", but no copy of the 1846 Atlas has been located, an illustration, perhaps, of the fact that ordinary sized books stand a better chance of survival than do volumes too large to stand unobtrusively on the shelves.

The three hundred pages of this small Geography are crowded with information in small type,
usually in the form of questions or questions and
answers. Evidently geography was, at least partially, a memory exercise. There were also small

wood cuts printed in black and white.

Due perhaps to slips in revision, the 1846 edition of Olney's Geography contains some confusing information concerning the status of Iowa and Wisconsin. In a report on the population, both are listed as "States"; in a study of the map

of the United States, both are listed as "Territories"; but in the descriptive sketches of States and Territories Wisconsin was placed among the States, while Iowa was listed as a Territory, as indeed it was at the time the Geography was printed. Wisconsin, however, did not enter the Union until 1848, almost two years after Iowa became a State. Possibly the editor assumed that the older Territory automatically became a State as soon as a new Territory was carved out from its area.

Three towns were listed in the descriptive sketch of Iowa — Iowa City, Burlington, and Dubuque. According to an editorial note Dubuque was to be pronounced "Du-book". The pupil in Iowa would have been confused by some of the questions to be answered from the map—"Which extends farthest south, Iowa, or this State?"; "In what direction from us is Iowa?"; and "How will you sail from Prairie du Chien to Iowa City?"

Incidentally the modern student would be interested in some of the world geography as it was one hundred years ago. What is now Argentina was Buenos Ayres, and Colombia was New Granada. Much more significant to the modern readers than to those of 1846 was the comment in small type concerning Persia (now Iran and

Iraq). "On the western part of the coast of the Caspian Sea, are fountains of naphtha or pure rock oil. The earth around them when dug to the depths of two or three inches readily takes fire on applying to it a live coal." Today those oil deposits threaten to be the "live coal" which may ignite a third world war. Since friction matches were already invented in 1846, one may ask why the live coal? Possibly no one had a match. At that time not even Mr. Olney considered the oil as anything more than a curiosity. Times have changed.

RUTH A. GALLAHER

THE STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF IOWA

Established by the Pioneers in 1857 Located at Iowa City Iowa

PUBLICATIONS OF THE SOCIETY

The Iowa Journal of History and Politics

The Palimpsest—A monthly magazine

The Public Archives Series

The Iowa Biographical Series

The Iowa Economic History Series

The Iowa Social History Series

The Iowa Applied History Series

The Iowa Chronicles of the World War

The Iowa Centennial History

The Miscellaneous Publications

The Bulletins of Information

MEMBERSHIP

Membership in the State Historical Society may be secured through election by the Board of Curators. The annual dues are \$3.00. Members may be enrolled as Life Members upon the payment of \$50.00.

Address all Communications to

The State Historical Society
Iowa City Iowa